

PLANNING COMMITTEE

(Online meeting)

Monday, 26 October 2020 at 1.30pm

Committee Members: The Chairman (Councillor Brockbank) and Councillors Brown, Handley, Heseltine, Lis, Morrell, Place, Pringle, Rose, Shuttleworth, Sutcliffe and Welch.

Substitute Members: Councillors Barrett, Ireton, Madeley, Noland, Solloway and Whitaker.

AGENDA

Please note that due to Covid-19, this meeting will be held remotely and will be livestreamed here: <u>https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCdfb6ZRbYnZ1-rRliLmjUwg</u>

Comfort Break: A formal comfort break of 15 minutes may be taken at an appropriate point in the Committee's consideration of the Schedule of Plans.

- 1. Apologies for Absence and Substitutes To receive any apologies for absence
- 2. Confirmation of Minutes To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 5 October 2020.
- 3. Public Participation In the event that any questions/statements are received or members of the public wish to ask questions or address the Committee in respect of matters not appearing on this agenda, the public participation session will proceed for a period of up to fifteen minutes.
- **4. Declarations of Interest** All Members are invited to declare at this point any interests they have in items appearing on this agenda, including the nature of those interests.

(Note: Declarations should be in the form of: a *"disclosable pecuniary interest"* under Appendix A to the Council's Code of Conduct, or "*other interests"* under Appendix B or under Paragraph 15 where a matter arises at the

meeting which relates to a financial interest of a friend, relative or close associate.

A Member of Council who has a disclosable pecuniary interest must leave the room and not take part in the discussion or vote. When declaring interests under Appendix B or Paragraph 15 of the Code, Members must move to the public seating area, not vote, and speak only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting.)

5. Hellifield Flashes, Planning History and Enforcement Issues – Report of the Strategic Manager for Planning and Regeneration. Attached.

Purpose of Report – To present to Members Counsel's advice on the planning history and enforcement issues in respect of development at Hellifield Flashes. The purpose of the report is to receive the advice from Counsel and provide the opportunity for Members to ask questions thereon. It is not to consider or review the extant planning permissions.

- 6. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972.
- 7. Date and Time of Next Meeting Monday, 2 November 2020 at 1.30pm

Agenda Contact Officer:

Vicky Davies, Senior Democratic Services Officer E-mail: <u>vdavies@cravendc.gov.uk</u> 16 October 2020

Additional Information

The circulation of materials cannot be accepted during the meeting. Any additional information has to be submitted to the Case Officer in advance of the meeting by 12 Noon on the last working day before the meeting date.

The Government COVID 19 regulations enable local authorities to meet remotely so that we can adhere to Government advice. This meeting is being live streamed on the Council's YouTube channel and will be archived for later viewing.

Procedural information for Members -

- Please use the virtual hand button on your screen to indicate that you wish to speak and then wait to be asked. Please do not speak over one another.
- However, you may interrupt to make any procedural points of order, if you have arrived late and need to tell us that you are present, or if you leave the meeting before it concludes.
- Please turn your microphone on and off before and after speaking, just as you would in a face-to-face Planning Committee meeting. If you do not turn it off, the moderator will mute it for you, to avoid background noise. Please also turn off your virtual hand button after speaking.

PLANNING COMMITTEE (on-line)

5th October 2020

Present – The Chairman (Councillor Brockbank) and Councillors Brown, Handley, Lis, Morrell, Place, Pringle, Shuttleworth, Solloway (substitute for Heseltine) Sutcliffe and Welch.

Officers – Planning Solicitor, Planning Manager, Planning Officers x2, Senior Democratic Services Officer and Democratic Services Manager.

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Heseltine and Rose.

Ward Representatives : Councillor Brown (2020/21452/FUL) & Councillor Mercer (2020/21754/FUL).

Start: 1.37pm

Finish: 4.30pm

Councillor Sutcliffe joined the meeting at 1.44pm.

The minutes of the 28th September 2020 were confirmed.

PL.997 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND LOBBYING

a. Declarations of Interest

Members were invited to declare any interests in the business before the Committee. None were declared.

b. Lobbying

Application 2020/21452/FUL – Councillor Brown stated that he had been lobbied against the application.

Application 2020/21754/FUL – Councillors Brown, Shuttleworth and Sutcliffe stated they had been lobbied for the application.

PL.998

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

The following persons had their statements read out on their behalf or addressed the Committee in person under its public participation scheme:

Application 2020/21452/FUL:	Erica Ridehalgh (objector/for the objectors)
	Sam Deegan (for the applicant)
Application 2020/21754/FUL:	Rosemary Thompson (applicant)

PL.999 APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION

a. Delegated Matters

The Strategic Manager for Planning and Regeneration reported the following applications for planning permission which had been dealt with under delegated authority:

2019/21173/MMA Minor material amendment to vary condition no. 2 (Approved Plans) of planning approval 2018/19100/FUL granted 01 August 2018 at Pennine Haulage, Brow Garage, Rook Street, Lothersdale, Keighley BD20 8EH. Approved with Conditions.

2020/21427/FUL Erection of extension to existing utility/store in order to create a single (one bedroomed) holiday letting unit at Green Grove, Bell Busk BD23 4DU. Approved with Conditions.

2020/21630/HH Replace existing unsafe and uneven patio and terrace with wooden decking (retrospective) at 1 Dalacres, Embsay, Skipton. BD23 6RP. Approved with Conditions.

2020/21709/HH Single storey lean to style extension to rear of the house at 49 Mill Close, Settle BD24 9BY. Approved with Conditions.

2020/21784/HH Change colour of windows, doors, fascias and drainpipes, and erect an external flue at 23 Clayton Hall Road, Cross Hills, Keighley. BD20 7TA. Approved with Conditions.

2020/21813/CND Application to discharge condition no. 5 (Drainage YW) and no. 6 (Construction Method Statement) of planning permission referenced 2018/18873/FUL granted 09 May 2018 at Holly Tree House, Skipton Road, Low Bradley, Keighley BD20 9EF. DOC satisfactory.

2020/21853/CPL Application for certificate of lawful development for proposed construction of rear dormer window and alterations at 4 Sawley Street, Skipton BD23 1SX. Approved Cert. Lawful Devt.

2020/21851/VAR Application to vary condition no's 2 (Approved Plans), 4 (Materials) and 5 (Doors) on application reference number: 2018/19802/FUL at Low Windhill Farm, Cowling, Keighley BD22 0LJ.

Approved with Conditions.

2020/21881/AGRRES Prior notification for proposed change of use of agricultural building to residential use at Cowlaughton Farm. Park Lane, Cowling, Keighley BD22 0NL. Prior Approval Granted.

2020/21879/FUL Construction of agricultural access at Low Lane, Embsay. Approved with Conditions.

2020/21948/AGRRES Prior approval notification for change of use of agricultural building to dwelling at Lodge Barn, Lodge Lane, Langcliffe, Settle BD24 9LT. Application Withdrawn.

b. Applications

Permission Granted

Application 2020/21452/FUL application for the erection of a pair of semi-detached dwellings with associated garden space and parking on land to the South West of Langroods Farm, High Bradley Lane, High Bradley, BD20 9ES – subject to the conditions below as well as the following additional condition and an informative as follows:

Condition - Notwithstanding the plans approved under condition 2 (approved plans) of this permission, details of the improved biodiversity and expansion of green infrastructure shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be implemented in their entirety prior to the occupation of the dwellings and shall thereafter be retained.

Reason: To ensure an improvement to the environment to accord with policies ENV4 and ENV5 of the Craven Local Plan and the requirements of the NPPF.

Informative – The applicant is advised that this planning permission does not override the need to comply with The Private Water Supplies (England) Regulations 2016. Please contact the Council's Environmental Health team for further information. Their contact details are Environmental Health, 1 Belle Vue Square, Broughton Road, Skipton, North Yorkshire, BD23 1FJ (tel: 01756 700 600).

Conditions

Time Limit for Commencement

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission

Reason: To ensure compliance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Approved Plans

2 The permission relates to the following plans:

- Drawing No. P(000)105 Rev A "Proposed Floor Plans, Elevations + Section A-A received 21st February 2020.
- Drawing No. P9000)103 Rev C "Site Location Plan" received 29th June 2020.
- Drawing No. P(000)104 Rev D "Proposed Site Plan" received 29th June 2020.
- Drawing No. P(000)107 Rev A "Existing and Proposed Site Sections" received 29th June 2020.
- Drawing No. 1001 Rev P08 "Proposed Drainage Layout" received 01st July 2020.

Except as provided for by other conditions to this permission, the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved drawings.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development in accordance with the policies contained within the Craven Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

During Building Works

3 Unless alternative details have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the external surfaces of the dwellings shall be constructed in accordance with the materials detailed on the approved plans and material sample list.

Reason: To ensure the visual appearance of the dwellings assimilates will into the surrounding area in accordance with the requirements of Craven Local Plan policy ENV3 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

4 The site shall be developed with separate systems of drainage for foul and surface water on and off site.

Reason: In the interest of satisfactory and sustainable drainage.

5 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, there shall be no excavation or other groundworks, except for investigative works, or the depositing of material on the site until the access(es) to the site have been set out and constructed in accordance with the published Specification of the Highway Authority and the following requirements:

(i) The details of the access shall have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority.

(ii)(c) The crossing of the highway verge and/or footway shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details and/or Standard Detail number E6. (iii) Any gates or barriers shall be erected a minimum distance of 4.5 metres back from the

carriageway of the existing highway and shall not be able to swing over the existing or proposed highway.

(iv) Provision to prevent surface water from the site/plot discharging onto the existing or proposed highway shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details, and/or the specification of the Highway Authority, and maintained thereafter to prevent such discharges.

(v) The final surfacing of any private access within 4.5 metres of the public highway shall not contain any loose material that is capable of being drawn on to the existing or proposed public highway.

Informative

You are advised that a separate licence will be required from the Highway Authority in order to allow any works in the adopted highway to be carried out. The 'Specification for Housing and Industrial Estate Roads and Private Street Works' published by North Yorkshire County Council, the Highway Authority, is available at the County Council's offices. The local office of the Highway Authority will also be pleased to provide the detailed constructional specification referred to in this condition.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of access to the site from the public highway in the interests of vehicle and pedestrian safety and convenience.

6 There shall be no access or egress by any vehicles between the highway and the application site (except for the purposes of constructing the initial site access) until splays are provided giving clear visibility of 25 metres measured along the centre line of the major road High Bradley Lane from a point measured 2 metres down the centre line of the access road. The eye height will be 1.05 metres and the object height shall be 1.05 metres in height. Once created, these visibility areas shall be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained for their intended purpose at all times.

Reason: In the interests of road safety.

Before the Development is Occupied

7 No dwelling shall be occupied until the related parking facilities have been constructed in accordance with the approved drawings. Once created these parking areas shall be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained for their intended purpose at all times.

Reason: In accordance with policy INF4 and the provide for adequate and satisfactory provision of off-street accommodation for vehicles in the interest of safety and the general amenity of the development.

Ongoing Conditions

8 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)(England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification) the parking spaces, turning areas and access shall be kept available for their intended purposes at all times.

Reason: To ensure these areas are kept for their intended use in the interests of highway safety and the general amenity of the development.

9 Within 3 months of development first taking place a landscaping scheme for the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of the type, species, siting, planting distances and the programme of replacement planting of trees, hedges and shrubs. The duly approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out during the first planting season after the dwelling is first occupied and the areas which are landscaped shall be retained as landscaped areas thereafter. Any trees, hedges or shrubs removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five years of planting shall be replaced by trees, hedges or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to be planted.

4

Reason: In order that appropriate soft landscaping is introduced at the site to screen the development and to mitigate its visual effects on landscape character in accordance with policy ENV3 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Informatives

1. Statement of Positive Engagement:

In dealing with this application Craven District Council has sought to approach the decision making process in a positive and creative way, in accordance with the requirements of paragraph 38 of the NPPF.

2. Hours of Construction

The hours of operation during the construction phase of development and delivery of construction materials or equipment to the site and associated with the construction of the development hereby permitted should be limited to 0730 hours to 1800 hours on Monday to Fridays and 0730 hours to 1300 hours on Saturday. No work should take place on Sundays or Bank/Public Holidays.

3. The applicant shall identify all areas of the site and the site operations where dust may be generated and ensure that dust is controlled so as not to travel beyond the site boundary.

Reason: To safeguard the living conditions of nearby residents particularly with regard to the effects of dust.

4. Topsoil

The applicant is advised it is the responsibility of the developer to ensure that any topsoil brought on site is free from metals, plastic, wood, glass, tarmac, paper and odours associated with contaminated soils as specified in BS 3882: 2015 Specification for Topsoil. Supplier(s) details and confirmation on the source(s) of any topsoil materials brought on site should be made available for inspection at the request of the Council's Environmental Health Department.

5. Charging Points

The applicant/developer is advised that in the interests of promoting sustainable travel opportunities electric vehicle charging points should be provided.

Permission Refused

Application 2020/21754/FUL construction of Studio Workshop (relocation of studio workshop originally approved under application 2017/18633/FUL) with creation of new vehicle access, parking/turning areas and associated works (re-submission of refused application 2020/21429/FUL at Carr Head Hall, Car Head Lane, Cowling, BD22 0LD - refused for the following reasons;

- The proposal is contrary to Policies SP", EC1 and EC3 of the Craven Local Plan 2012-2032 and the National Planning Policy Framework as it constitutes inappropriate development in the open countryside in that it does not fulfil the requirements for industrial development in rural areas. Furthermore, no adequate justification, special circumstances or material considerations have been demonstrated to merit a departure from these policies.
- The proposed development does not meet the requirements for ensuring that new development respond to the context on its surroundings, and that it fails to respect the form of existing and surrounding buildings. It is therefore considered that the proposal is contrary to

the requirements of saved Policy ENV3 of the Craven Local Plan 2012-2032 and the National Planning Policy Framework.

3. The proposal is contrary to Policy ENV2 of the Craven Local Plan 2012-2032. The harm which would result to the listed building setting and significance, significantly outweighs any public benefit that may be afforded by the proposal and there is no clear or convincing justification for this harm, which should only be allowed in exceptional circumstances. The proposed development is therefore contrary to the requirements of Policy ENV2 of the Craven Local Plan, Part 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework and the requirements of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Informatives

- 1. For the avoidance of doubt, this decision related to the following plans: 9a, 10c, 18a, 11b, 12a, 13c, 14b, 15d, 16b, 17a, 19a.
- 2. Statement of Positive Engagement:

In dealing with this application, Craven District Council has sought to approach the decision making process in a positive and creative way, in accordance with the requirements of Paragraph 38 of the NPPF.

PL.996

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT

The Strategic Manager for Planning and Regeneration submitted details of closed enforcement cases and new enforcement complaints registered in the period from 18th September 2020 to 23rd September 2020.

Minutes for Decision

- None –

Chairman.

AGENDA ITEM 5

Planning Committee 26 October 2020

Hellifield Flashes, Planning History and Enforcement Issues



Report of the Strategic Manager for Planning and Regeneration

Ward(s) affected: Hellifield and Long Preston

- 1. **Purpose of Report** To present to Members Counsel's advice on the planning history and enforcement issues in respect of development at Hellifield Flashes. The purpose of the report is to receive the advice from Counsel and provide the opportunity for Members to ask questions thereupon. It is not to consider or review the extant planning permissions.
- 2. **<u>Recommendations</u>** Members are recommended to:
- 2.1 To receive Counsel's advice.

3. Content of Report

- 3.1 The Council instructed Mrs Harriet Townsend of Counsel to advise on planning issues in respect of the very complex history of the site that is set out in Counsel's advice of 14 September 2020 attached as Appendix 1 to this report and the executive summary attached as Appendix 2. The advice considers the outline 2003 permission and whether it should have been subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment; whether the 2003 consent was implemented and to review the Council's approach to the enforcement of planning control at the site.
- 3.2 The advice has been published on the Council's website and the public were invited to submit any questions that they may have in respect of the advice in the period 24th September 2020 15th October 2020. Statutory consultees were subsequently specifically informed of the advice and provided an opportunity to comment/raise questions until 26 October 2020. Comments will not receive an individual response but will be considered by Counsel after the publication period is closed and Members will be updated at Committee.
- 3.3 The advice offers the prospect of learning lessons for the future, in terms of improving administration around the processing of environmental impact assessments and increasing transparency.

4. Implications

4.1 Financial and Value for Money (vfm) Implications -

None arising directly from this report, however, there will be a resource requirement in continuing to monitor the the implementation of the development.

- 4.2 <u>Legal Implications</u> None arising directly from this report.
- 4.3 <u>Contribution to Council Priorities –</u> None arising directly from this report.
- 4.4 <u>**Risk Management**</u> None arising directly from this report.
- 4.5 <u>Equality Analysis –</u> No new policy or procedure is proposed in the report which would give rise to a requirement for an Equality Impact Assessment.
- 5. <u>Consultations with Others</u> Council Solicitor and S151 Officer.
- 6. Access to Information : Background Documents None
- 7. <u>Author of the Report</u> Neville Watson Planning Manager (Development Management) 01756 706402

Note : Members are invited to contact the author in advance of the meeting with any detailed queries or questions.

8. <u>Appendices</u> –

Appendix A – Advice from Harriet Townsend of Counsel 14 September 2020 Appendix B – Exective Summary of Counsel's advice 14 September 2020

CRAVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL

HELLIFIELD FLASHES

Re Planning History and Enforcement Issues

============

ADVICE

=============

- 1. I am instructed by Craven District Council to advise on certain planning issues which have been raised in relation to the planning history and allegedly unlawful development at a site of approximately 51 hectares on the western edge of the village of Hellifield ("the site"). Outline planning consent was granted in 2003 for a rural environmental centre on the site ("the 2003 consent").
- 2. I was initially asked:
 - a. Whether the 2003 consent, or the approval of reserved matters in 2005, should have been subject to Environmental Impact Assessment ("EIA");
 - b. Whether the 2003 consent was implemented;
 - c. To undertake a review of the Council's approach to the enforcement of planning control at the site, bearing in mind criticisms made by others.
- 3. Following further correspondence during 2020, I have also been asked to consider whether the approval of reserved matters fell within the scope of the authority given to the Head of Planning and Building Control by the planning committee's resolution.
- 4. Naturally, I approach these questions as a lawyer, my task being to advise the Council on its position in relation to the law, bearing in mind the Council's planning functions and relevant planning policy. It is no part of my role to endorse the approach taken by the applicant or developer, or to express an opinion on the planning merit of development, positive or negative.
- 5. I was first instructed in late 2019. It was apparent from the start that I needed to review a large number of documents relating to a period of more than twenty years. As it turned out, it took a long time to assemble these, and I suggested that a site visit and conference would make things easier for all concerned. We arranged that visit for 23 March 2020 and then had to cancel it due to Coronavirus restrictions on movement.
- 6. The lack of a site visit has not, in my view, affected the reliability of my advice but it has made it a lengthier process both to interpret the various plans and planning permissions that affect the site, and to piece together the complex planning history that forms an important part of it.

- 7. This Advice includes a detailed and independent analysis of events stretching back some 20 years. Its structure is as follows
 - a. Factual background
 - b. Environmental Impact Assessment
 - i. The 2003 consent
 - ii. The approval of reserved matters
 - c. The Committee's resolution and approval of reserved matters
 - d. Implementation of the 2003 consent
 - e. Enforcement Issues
- 8. I have identified the source of my information in footnotes. I am confident that I have seen sufficient to support the opinions I have reached on the essential issues.

Factual background

- 9. Outline planning permission (5/42/149) was granted in 1991 for the comprehensive development of an area of land to the west of Hellifield to form a Railway Heritage Centre, a Country Club Hotel, golf course, access road and park and ride facilities at Hellifield Station. Reserved matters were never submitted and the permission ultimately lapsed.
- 10. In 2000, planning permission with reference number 5/42/149C was granted for 'the construction of Hellifield Rural Environmental Centre (Comprising tourism, exhibition, training, equestrian and livestock Buildings)'on the 51 ha site which formed part of the land benefiting from the 1991 consent.
- 11. The Hellifield Rural Environment Centre Ltd applied to renew this application in 2002. It was given reference 42/2002/2763 and permission was granted subject to 12 conditions on the 10 February 2003 ("the 2003 consent")¹. This consent does not explicitly approve any plans, and I do not have those which formed part of the application. I have assumed that the approved plan for 5/42/149C illustrates the development approved by the 2003 consent. It is labelled 'car park' in the north west corner, with an hotel on the opposite side of the access road. The Gallaber Flash is situated within an area marked with green hatching, and I have assumed that this was the nature conservation area (see condition 5 copied at para 14 below).
- 12. The Reserved Matters were 'details of the design and external appearance of the buildings, the landscaping of the site and the siting of the manager's house' for which application for approval had to be made before the expiration of three years from the date of the 2003 consent [condition 3, and condition 5 on landscaping requirements].
- 13. Development permitted by the 2003 consent had to begin either before the expiration of five years from that consent, or 2 years from the approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever was later [condition 4].

¹ Item 1 in Folder for counsel.

14. Condition 5 required that details of landscaping

'shall include details of a scheme for the preservation or enhancement of that part of the application site shown on the approved plan as a nature conservation area. The scheme shall include a nature conservation area management plan, including long term conservation objectives, management responsibilities and a programme of implementation and maintenance.'

- 15. ML Evans of Tower Farm applied for approval of reserved matters in 2005, reference 42/2005/5082.
- 16. On 25 July 2005, the Planning Committee considered the application. Mr Scott-Smith is recorded as speaking for objectors, and Mr R Beck for the applicant.
- 17. The minute² states that the Head of Planning and Building Control was authorised to approve the application

'subject to the conditions summarised below, and subject also to prior discussions and agreement with the Environment Agency, English Nature and the applicants regarding retention of the wetland area (either through a condition or as part of the management plan) as opposed to the creation of a lake. In the event of agreement not being reached the Head of Planning and Building Control to report back to the Committee.'

- 18. An email from the Environment Agency dated 25 August 2005³ notes that the valued characteristics of the lake (they use this term) are that it should be "full and wet" in winter and "practically empty and dry" in the summer. The officer's visit on 23 August 2005 showed it to be dry and it was this "ephemeral" characteristic of the "lake" they advised the LPA should be retained. The email also notes that the writer had been invited to a meeting on 25 August but had been unable to attend.
- 19. A letter from English Nature dated 26 August 2005⁴ analyses the position of the lake in some detail on 25 August. The key points for present purposes are
 - a. The importance of the site for breeding and wintering birds is noted and 'will be retained if management of the site aims to have high winter water levels to provide feeding areas for wintering birds and relatively lower levels during early spring and summer to provide breeding and feeding areas for wading birds.'
 - b. English Nature states that after advising the applicant's agents throughout the life of the application 'We believe that we now have a plan which sets out sound principles to achieve [a suitable outline management plan].'
- 20. The application for approval of reserved matters was granted on 20 September 2005, subject to 16 conditions ("the RM approval")⁵.

² Received by email 9 July 2020.

³ Copy received by email 9 July 2020.

⁴ Copy received by email 9 July 2020.

⁵ Item 5(1) in Folder for counsel.

- 21. Condition 1 requires compliance with the approved plans comprising GP25/011B, GP25/001a, GP25/002a, GP25/003a, GP25/004a, GP25/005a, GP25/006a, GP25/007a, GP25/008, GP/25/009, 4103/01, 4103/02, 4103/03, 4103/04, 4103/05 and 4103/06.
- 22. The layout plan 011B shows an hotel adjacent to the access from the A65T but there is no further detail of its design, and the area of "Car Parking" on the other side of that access road lies outside the red line. The RM approval requires that prior to commencement of construction of the hotel building, full detailed design drawings shall be approved and the development must be implemented in accordance with them [condition 2]. I have seen the details submitted to discharge this condition and the Council's letter of 21 November 2007 confirming satisfactory discharge⁶.
- 23. The other conditions imposed on the RM approval concern the following :
 - a. The submission of samples before commencement of certain works to the buildings [conditions 3 and 4];
 - b. The location of soil stacks to the hotel building [condition 5];
 - c. Details of surfacing materials to be approved before use [conditions 6 and 7];
 - d. Details of boundary structures of enclosures before their erection [condition 8];
 - e. Control of surface water drainage requirement for an oil interceptor and a settlement scheme to be approved by the LPA [conditions 9 and 10 – discharged by the Council's letter dated 1 February 2008]⁷;
 - f. Existing and approved levels over the site the development to be carried out in accordance with details approved [condition 11 discharged by the Council's letter of 9 January 2008]⁸;
 - g. Environmental impact and mitigation development not to begin until a full environmental management plan is submitted and approved in consultation with English Nature and the Environment Agency. The development must be carried out in accordance with that approved plan [Condition 12 – discharged by the Council's letter of 9 January 2008]⁹;
 - Landscaping the submission and approval of a scheme before development commenced and compliance with it [condition 13 – discharged by the Council's letter of 9 January 2008]¹⁰;

⁶ Item 5(3) in Folder for counsel.

⁷ Items 5(4) and (5) in Folder for counsel. I note that the Environment Agency were consulted on the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and confirmed satisfactory discharge of both conditions on 31 January 2008.

⁸ Item 5(6) in Folder for counsel.

⁹ Item 5(7) in Folder for counsel.

¹⁰ Item 5(8) in Folder for counsel. I note discussions had been held with Natural England, as referred to in the submission letter.

- i. The pedestrian environment details to be provided before commencement of development, and implementation in accordance with the approved details [conditions 14 discharged by the Council's letter of 21 November 2007].
- j. Development south of the A65 and the provision of external lighting [conditions 15 and 16 respectively].
- 24. The following conditions imposed on the 2003 consent prevent development commencing before approval of details:-
 - a. Condition 6 the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme approved by the LPA. I have seen the details submitted to discharge this condition in 2007 and the Council's letter of 9 January 2008 to D Hill confirming satisfactory discharge¹¹;
 - b. Condition 8 details of pedestrian, wheelchair and vehicular links within the site and the adjacent Hellifield station site approved by the LPA. I have seen the details submitted to discharge this condition in 2007 and the Council's letter of 21 November 2007 to D Hill confirming satisfactory discharge¹²;
 - c. Condition 9 details of foul and surface water drainage works approved by the LPA. I have seen the details submitted to discharge this condition in 2008 and the Council's letter of 1 February 2008 confirming satisfactory discharge. This letter also states that all the pre-commencement conditions had been met¹³.
- 25. Condition 12 provides that, before commencement, visibility splays should be provided at the junction of the access road with the A65(T). However, this is not a precommencement condition of the kind that would render ineffective works undertaken by way of implementation of the consent¹⁴. I do not know whether or not these visibility splays were provided before implementation but, for the avoidance of doubt, I consider the implications of not complying with this condition later within this Advice.
- 26. On 1 February 2008 the Council confirmed to David Hill, agent for the applicant, that all pre-commencement conditions imposed on the 2003 consent and the RM approval had been met. By letter dated 6 February David Hill wrote

"My client started work on the approved new access road directly south off Waters Side Lane and directly west of Kell Well Beck at Hellifield on Monday 4 February 2008. A watching brief was undertaken during the initial top soil strip of the site by Archaeological Services WYAS or Morley, Leeds. No archaeological remains were found."

David Hill sought confirmation that the development permitted by the 2003 consent had been implemented, and this was given in writing by the Council in a letter dated 7 February 2008.

¹¹ Item 2 in Folder for counsel

 $^{^{\}rm 12}$ Item 3 in Folder for counsel

¹³ Item 4 in Folder for counsel

¹⁴ See *Howell v Waveney DC* [2018] EWHC 3388 (Admin).

- 27. The following year, on 16 July 2009, the Council issued a scoping opinion to JO Steel Consulting, relating to development of land for a hotel and conference centre, 30 holiday apartments, 60 bed care home, 9 hole golf course and club house, garden centre, holiday village comprising 185 cottages and business park at land adjoining Hellifield Station. I have not seen the letter of 1 June 2009 requesting the scoping opinion, nor any plans or illustrations of the proposed development. No application for planning permission followed perhaps not surprising given the onset of a deep recession following the 2008-9 financial crash. The scoping opinion advised that the EIA should cover (amongst other matters) ecology/biodiversity, landscape, and traffic.
- 28. In September 2010 there was correspondence about what had been permitted and whether the 2003 consent had been implemented. The Local Planning Authority advised that it was satisfied that the works to construct the access successfully implemented the 2003 consent.
- 29. There must have been some concern expressed about Kell Well Beck in 2011, as later correspondence refers to an email addressing alleged diversion of the beck¹⁵.
- 30. On 20 June 2011 a meeting was held between Officers about the proposed development¹⁶ and I have seen a letter from David Hill to a land agent which appears to be part of an exercise in land assembly¹⁷.
- 31. In February 2013 the Council investigated complaints received about the dumping of possible waste and soil/earth from other sites that the Developer was working on. Those corresponding by email over the response to these complaints include
 - a. An Officer, who contacted the Biodiversity Officer for the Ribble who was involved in the original consultation on the 2009 Scoping Opinion;
 - b. The Environment Agency who was investigating complaints about other waste said to be spread on adjacent fields.
- 32. Amongst other things the Officer asked the Environment Agency for assistance with her investigation of alleged breaches of planning conditions, saying

"The condition requires a settlement facility to be in place throughout the construction period to remove suspended solids from surface water run-off. From your visit to the site or discussions with [the Developer] are you aware as to whether or not there is a settlement facility on site? I presumed that this is something you may have looked for in order to ensure the water (in the nearby kell well beck) is not polluted in any way."

33. The Environment Agency's reply was as follows

From my initial site inspection, it would appear that there is no such settlement facility. This would be in the form of a pond, swale, soakaway or device such as a 'silt buster' designed to

¹⁵ The letter from an Officer to a complainant of 21 May 2013. I note that correspondence in 2005 also referred to diversion of the Beck – both the Environment Agency and English Nature referred to it in correspondence with the LPA. However, the EA's visit in August 2005 was at least partially reassuring on the question whether it had caused any harm to the ephemeral characteristics of the lake.

¹⁶ 2.4.2 of the Environmental Statement, 2016, Wardell Armstrong.

¹⁷ Email dated 10 May 2020 from Councillor Moorby to Legal Services Manager.

settle out or filter suspended solids from any run-off from the site in order to prevent silt from entering the watercourse. ...

My immediate concern with the building of the road was its proximity to the Kell Well Beck and whether this constituted a flood risk. I also expressed some concern about potential for impact on water quality from the stripping of the topsoil and stockpiling of the earth close to the beck – there did not appear to be any measures to protect the beck from run-off generated by the construction works. This would previously have been considered as part of an application for land drainage consent, when the EA would have issued pollution prevention advice on the back of any method statement for dealing with the silty water run-off.

- 34. Also in February 2013, the Local Planning Authority prepared a statement on "Recent Development at Hellifield Flash" which is introduced as follows: "The comments below are not legally binding and comprise an informal officer view only to help give a better understanding of the current position." The statement was sent to the CPRE and to "other interested parties"¹⁸. It was that officer's view that
 - a. After implementation in 2008, no further works of construction were undertaken until "very recently".
 - b. The reserved matters application could not have been subject to EIA¹⁹.
 - c. There was no legal requirement to undertake a screening opinion of the 2000 consent, since that application was governed by the 1988 EIA Regulations and not those introduced in 1999. This was said to be the subject of a legal opinion²⁰.
 - d. A screening opinion should have been undertaken for the 2003 consent. However, the authority could not do so retrospectively 10 years after the application was granted. The statutory consultees were involved in the decision making process, and conditions (such as that requiring an Environmental Management Plan under condition 12 of the reserved matters approval) ensured no harm was caused.
 - e. In conclusion Gordon Halton Homes was permitted to work on site in accordance with plans, conditions and the environmental management plan something being monitored by the planning enforcement team.
- 35. On 11 March 2013 an Officer wrote to Councillor Moorby as follows (in reply to his letter dated 5 March 2013).

"Unfortunately the Council are yet to receive a retrospective application for the pond. I met with [a representative of] David Hill on 7th March 2013 and discussed the options available to him in order to try and regularise the situation, unfortunately other unrelated matters have delayed the submission of an application. As you are aware the Council try to resolve enforcement issues by way of negotiation and persuasion in the first instance, taking formal enforcement action as a last resort. [The agent] has been responsive to our suggestions and it is hoped that the matter will be resolved in due course once he has made a submission to the

¹⁸ Officer's letter of 12 March 2013 to CPRE.

¹⁹ A point I return to later. He was mistaken on this point.

²⁰ I have not seen the opinion. In March he said the Opinion had been recently obtained. I am informed by the Legal Services Manager that the Council has been unable to located this Opinion.

Council, I have been advised by him that this will be within the next month. Once we receive something I will update you again."

- 36. The Councillor had also raised concerns about the alleged diversion of a watercourse in response to which an Officer advised that such matters must be dealt with by North Yorkshire County Council. She provided contact details for the purpose of alerting them to the concerns.
- 37. Also on 11 March 2013 an Officer wrote to "Save Our Craven Countryside" and advised him that
 - a. The access road²¹ appears to be in the approved position in relation to the beck but that she would check when next visiting the site;
 - b. That evidence of diversion of a watercourse is needed before the NYCC will investigate a complaint; and
 - c. How to make arrangements for inspecting documents held by the Council.
- 38. NS also wrote to Mr Halton by letter dated 8 March 2013 about the implementation of the settlement facility (but I do not have a copy of this letter) and followed it up with a telephone call on 9 April 2013²².
- 39. On 12 March 2013 an Officer wrote to CPRE Craven, in reply to the letter of 28 February 2013. It seems the RSPB had lodged a holding objection to an application on the site in 1998 saying that EIA was required. The Officer's response was that "the requirement to carry out EIA's to accompany certain types of planning application wasn't in place until 1999 and yet the later [sic] was dated 1998." I think the Officer must have misunderstood the legal opinion since it was the specific requirement to carry out a screening opinion that was introduced in 1999; EIA had been a requirement of certain applications for several years by then. I will return to this point in due course when considering EIA issues. The letter continues to point out that the holding objection had been withdrawn after the case officer had consulted the RSPB with revised information.
- 40. On 8 April 2013 SOCC wrote asking the Council to serve a breach of condition notice on Gordon Halton Homes.
- 41. On 9 April 2013 an Officer wrote to CPRE as follows

"I have negotiated with the developer and he is due to install the settlement facility (this should have been done prior to commencement) on Wednesday 10th April 2013. The details of the settlement facility were agreed back in January 2008, a report was submitted to the Council who then consulted with the EA. At the time it was considered by the EA that sufficient information had been provided to recommend that the condition be discharged. I have attached the relevant document that was originally submitted for your information.

²¹ I have 23 photographs of the site taken on 14 February 2013 [001.JPG – 023.JPG] which suggest the construction of an access track running in a straight line towards the flash, and some stored soil covered in grass alongside.

²² The letter is referred to in NS's later letter of 2 May 2013.

Once the settlement facility is in place, I would like to know if anyone in your department would normally check the work that has been done to ensure it has been carried out to a certain standard? I am aware that the complainants believe that despite the installation of the settlement facility it may have been done too late and there is a danger that harm may have already occurred. I am also concerned about the possible harm that may have already been caused to wildlife and aquatic life. Obviously I will be visiting the site to ensure that the developer is no longer in breach of the planning approval and that the work has been carried out however I do not have the expert knowledge to suggest whether or not the settlement facility has been implemented successfully. In addition I would also be grateful for your opinion as to whether or not there has been any possible harm to aquatic life since development began in January 2013 as a result of the lack of settlement facility."

42. The Environment Agency's reply on 9 April 2013 was

"Many thanks for this, having had a quick scan, it appears that the settlement facility would seem to be straw bales placed in Gallaber pond and Kell Well Beck – with the pond being suggested as a 'settlement facility' and solids discharged to Kell Well Beck being allowed to settle out in the slack water. I'm not sure who approved this back in 2008 or whether the biodiversity officers at the time had any input but it doesn't seem a very robust management plan! I certainly don't think that allowing solids to settle on the bed of the beck can be justified – the consultant claims that this is ok because flows are sluggish downstream of the pond. What happens when the flows increase after rain? Potentially all those solids will be picked up and carried downstream.

I am not really qualified to say whether wildlife has sustained any damage due to works already having started – we'd need to take samples and in the absence of any sample data from prior to commencement of the work, it would be difficult to assess whether in fact there has been any damage. I will forward on to [another Environment Agency Officer] to see what she thinks. It might also be worth running it past the NYCC Ecologist for their comments.

From my perspective, I am looking at pollution prevention measures and whether straw bales are going to be enough in themselves.

However, as we have obviously approved their proposals we will presumably have to work with what we have got."

- 43. On 10 April 2013, SOCC wrote to the Local Planning Authority and others asking how "this" would fulfil condition 10 and how will it prevent pollution draining into the ground and contaminating Kell Well Beck? He attached four photographs (showing straw bales within fields).
- 44. On 2 May 2013 an Officer wrote to the Developer (and copied this letter to all complainants) reminding him of the JBA Flood Risk Final Report which was approved by the Council on 1 February 2008, and the requirements of paragraph 5.14 (details of measures to be followed when carrying out works at the site). She warned the Developer the Council would continue to monitor the situation.
- 45. On 6 May 2013 SOCC wrote to the Council 23 .

²³ I do not have a copy of this letter. It is referred to in later correspondence.

- 46. An Officer wrote to SOCC on 21 May 2013 by way of a short but comprehensive response to his stated concerns, stating
 - a. The Hellifield and Long Preston bypass and the railway heritage project would not be going ahead.
 - b. That the planning enforcement team had been in regular contact with the EA and the North Yorkshire County Council's Biodiversity Officer because they have the expertise to assess whether there is or has been potential for harm to wildlife; they have continued to stress the importance of wildlife in letters to the developer.
 - c. On the access and the detail of its construction, the County Council's highways engineer had advised that "the road was being laid correctly and was in accordance with the plans submitted to and approved by Craven District Council. The developer did obtain a use of waste in construction exemption certificate from the Environment Agency"
 - d. On the settlement facility that "it is acknowledged that in order to comply with condition 10 a settlement facility should have been provided before the commencement of any works at the site. Unfortunately this did not happen, however the Planning Enforcement Team did make the developer aware of the importance of the situation Following the letter, as far as I am aware no further work was undertaken at the site." She confirmed that the placing of straw bales in this particular location was considered sufficient.
 - e. On condition 5 and the Environmental Management Plan, that there had been no breach of the condition.
 - f. On the diversion of Kell Well Beck, that an explanation had been given in 2011 that this is a matter for North Yorkshire County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority, and that their approach to alleged diversions had been set out in an email of 11 March 2011²⁴.
 - g. On pedestrian access to the station, and compliance with details submitted for conditions 8 and 14 of the reserved matters approval, approved on 21 November 2011, that this would be monitored. Advised that when the development reaches the stage that pedestrian and disabled routes are needed then it is the responsibility of the developer to ensure they are provided.
- 47. The Officer ended the letter confirming that no formal action was being considered but the concerns of SOCC were fully acknowledged by the Council.
- 48. SOCC replied to this letter on 12 June 2013, saying
 - a. Surely cancellation of the bypass means the designation of the site as a tourism development opportunity should be cancelled.
 - b. An officer of the Local Planning Authority has acknowledged that the failure to undertake EIA before planning consent was granted was an error.

²⁴ I do not have a copy of this email.

- c. There is evidence of great crested newts on site. Had EIA taken place these would have been confirmed and stricter conditions applied.
- d. The developer remains in breach of conditions 5 of the 2003 consent and 12 of the reserved matters approval since development has commenced and therefore the management plan should be in place.
- e. There has been a diversion of Kell Well beck it is acknowledged in the JBA report within the reserved matters file.
- f. The lack of a right to secure access to the station was known before discharge of the planning conditions which raises questions about why the condition was discharged and on what evidence.
- 49. On 24 June 2013, Julian Smith MP wrote to the Chief Executive of the Council asking him to consider the request for a meeting.
- 50. He wrote again on 22 September 2013 (a letter I have not seen), to which an Officer replied on 10 October 2013. She wrote the following about the Environmental Management Plan:-

"My letter of 3rd July 2013²⁵ still stands in this respect. In addition, we have written to the Developer (copying in [NYCC]), to enquire about the implementation of the Environmental Management Plan and who is responsible for the monitoring and reviewing of the plan. [NYCC] has not yet made any response. [The Developer] has responded to advise that he is discussing the matter with his agent and he will be in touch again soon. We will update you again when we can provide more information."

I have not seen any sign of that additional information.

- 51. I have 20 photographs taken on 16 September 2014 showing views of the site and the point at which the beck is culverted.
- 52. Ballan Ltd became interested in development of the site and, on 30 November 2016, applied for outline planning permission for

development of a leisure centre, including swimming pool, hotel and visitor accommodation, including up to 300 lodges, a park and ride facility, pedestrian access to Hellifield Station, parking areas, bus and coach drop off point. Landscaping including ground modelling and water features.

- 53. The site is 31.75ha (some 20 ha less than the 2003 consent). It excludes the Gallaber Flash and surrounding land. It includes the access part-constructed by way of implementation of the 2003 consent. The Applicant stated the proposal fell within Schedule 2 Part 12(c) of the EIA Regulations 2011, and that it had decided to undertake EIA voluntarily (not having requested a screening opinion).
- 54. The cumulative assessment claimed "there are no similar developments nearby"²⁶, and it seems clear the proposal was promoted as a replacement for the 2003 consent.

²⁵ I do not have a copy of this letter.

²⁶ 6.3.3 of the Planning Statement, 2016, prepared by Wardell Armstrong.

- 55. Of some note, environmental impacts on overwintering birds and flashes were to be the subject of more detailed assessments at reserved matters stage; and the realignment of Kell Well Beck was described as a beneficial impact²⁷.
- 56. The main issues identified in the officer's report of 29 March 2019 (OR) were landscape and visual impact, ecology, amenity, heritage assets, flooding and drainage, highway safety, and the principle of development. It noted as follows
 - a. The proposal conflicts with saved and draft policies of the development plan. Notably, draft policy EC4B "Tourism Development Commitment at Hellifield" is not supportive of the application.
 - b. There are extant planning permissions for a hotel and a rural environment centre on part of the site.
 - c. The RSPB (and several others) objected, but later withdrew their objections in the light of significant amendments to the scheme proposed. There does appear to have been significant movement on issues such as the management of Gallaber Pond, the creation of additional wetlands, and the acquisition of land to provide compensatory habitat.
- 57. In early June 2019, when works were being carried out on the car park area to the north west of the site, an Officer and the Developer corresponded by email over the drainage plan to which the developers were working. The Officer informed the developer that residents were alleging contaminated materials were being imported and that he had passed those allegations to the Environmental Health team. The developer's perspective was that they had bought the site with the benefit of planning permission, were building the 40 bedroom hotel and had an operator in place to run it.
- 58. At about this time the Environment Agency Regulatory Enforcement Officer for the Cumbria and Lancashire area, visited the site
- 59. On 6 June 2019 an Officer wrote to a complainant and others, seeking to clarify the view that a lawful start was made to secure the 2003 consent.
- 60. On 4 July 2019 the Environment Agency visited the site and made a number of recommendations to the contractor, later preparing a report. He noted the ground works taking place, the bunds complained of, and the straw bales. He expressed his opinion thus:-

"In my opinion [the bund of topsoil adjacent to the ground works area] looked a good example of a pollution prevention measure. The key being to prevent water containing suspended solids leaving the ground works area, and allowing it to soakaway and settle out the solids. The straw bales should act as secondary emergency containment but should not alone be relied upon."

61. On 20 July 2019 a complainant asked for proof that an Archaeological Survey was done within the car parking area. An Officer replied on 7 August 2019 that archaeological

²⁷ 8.5.1 of the Planning Statement.

conditions were satisfied by the watching brief undertaken when work commenced in 2008. He advised her that no further action was required.

- 62. On 6 August a complainant raised a number of questions about the works undertaken around the Gallaber Flash. It seems from the Officer's reply of 12 August 2019 that
 - a. the complainant was working from an incomplete copy of the Flood Risk Assessment (and LH uploaded a complete copy to the website);
 - b. The excavation taking place accorded with the proposed remodelling of the lake as proposed by approved plan P(0)07 Rev B. This shows a large lake controlled at 140 AOD, with a perimeter slope rising by just over a metre.
- 63. In September/October 2019 an Environmental Crime Officer with the Environment Agency investigated the importation of material to the site adjacent to Waterside Lane. He responded to a concerned local resident that the U1 exemption which had been relied upon in June 2019 was not appropriate and that activities had to cease – and did. He went on to explain that by September the site was active again but with a CL:AIRE Definition of Waste Code of Practice in place. This, the Environment Agency explained

"provides a clear, consistent and efficient process which enables the reuse of excavated materials either on a site or their movement between sites, without it being classed as a waste. This is a way of reducing the amount of material going to landfill. I have had the CL:AIRE checked by a Waste Specialist colleague who has advised that it is all above board and in order. Part of the CL:AIRE is a Materials Management Plan which confirms that all materials to be used will not harm human health or pollute the environment."

- 64. At about the same time, an Officer of the North Yorkshire police visited the site and introduced himself to a representative of the developer on site, serving a report on him (I think this was the EA report).
- 65. In November 2019 the Council adopted the Craven Local Plan. This includes policy EC4B which is supportive of "alternative sustainable tourism development on land at Hellifield identified as grey hatching on Diagram EC4B" subject to the satisfaction of a number of requirements. The land identified as grey hatching corresponds to that approved under the 2003 consent (including the car parking area, the hotel adjacent to the access, and the Rural Environment Centre, all as marked on plan 011B).
- 66. On 10 January 2020 an Officer visited the site and saw no activity.
- 67. On 15 January 2020 an Officer contacted North Yorkshire (LLFA) to see if they had told the developer to stop. They said that they were in the process of contacting the developer.
- 68. On 24 January 2020 an Officer wrote to the Council's Chief Executive addressing a range of matters which were then being considered by a number of different public authorities including the police (great crested newts), the Environment Agency (the importation of waste), and North Yorkshire (LLFA on lack of drainage consent).
- 69. In February 2020 a complainant wrote warning of tipping at Waterside Lane and then another complainant wrote to the Local Planning Authority and others alerting them with photographs to the presence of "wagons" which "are queuing up to tip waste all day every day on the so-called "car park" at Waterside Lane?" This is the area at the north west of the site where the hotel car parking was approved in 2008. She also notes

that "a new lake has been formed in the area scooped out for more waste to be buried"²⁸. Another complainant stated

"I am sure this has nothing to do with the hotel development as the rubbish is piling up so high it would be a mountain chalet if built. I suspect the developer is selling the site as land fill to other developers. If this looks like the case they should have a license and if they do not, they should be prosecuted and made to clear the site."

70. In March 2020 an application for outline planning permission was made for

up to 99 lodges, reception cabin with parking, and landscaping including ground modelling and water features (resubmission of previous application 42/2016/17496 refused 28 March 2019)

71. This application has yet to be determined.

Environmental Impact Assessment

- 72. I am asked whether the 2003 consent and/or the 2005 reserved matters approval should have been subject to EIA.
- 73. As is well known, the legislative source of the requirement to carry out an environmental impact assessment is the European EIA Directive, transposed into English law by Regulations. The European Directive has been amended and replaced several times, as have the domestic Regulations required to transpose it into UK law.

The 2003 consent

- 74. The legislation applying to the 2003 consent was as follows
 - a. The EIA Directive of 1985 (85/337/EEC) as amended in 1997 (97/11/EC); and
 - b. The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 1999/293, which came into force on 14 March 1999²⁹.
- 75. The 1999 Regulations prohibit a local planning authority from granting planning permission for "EIA development" without taking the environmental information into consideration [Regulation 3]. The environmental information is, in short, an Environmental Statement within the meaning of the Regulations and the fruits of consultation on that Statement as required by the Regulations. As is now widely understood, EIA is a process and not an outcome or a document it is the process of (a) submission of an ES; (b) informed consultation upon it with statutory consultees and the public; and (c) the consideration of the environmental information by the planning authority when taking decision on the application.
- 76. The first step for any planning authority, therefore, is to decide whether an application should be required to follow to that process, i.e. whether the development is EIA development.

²⁸ I am not quite sure where this is.

²⁹ As amended by the EIA Regulations 2000/2867, which came into force on 15 November 2000.

- 77. The Regulations define EIA development as development of a description either falling within Schedule 1, or "Schedule 2 development likely to have significant effects on the environment by virtue of factors such as its nature, size or location." This definition of EIA development has remained consistent and there is a wealth of case law assisting with its interpretation³⁰.
- 78. The question whether any particular development project falls within Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 is a question of law, turning on the interpretation of that Schedule. If, as a matter of law, the development does not fall into either Schedule it is not EIA development (unless the Secretary of State makes a direction under Regulation 4(8) of the EIA Regulations 1999, which did not happen in this case).
- 79. So, for present purposes, the crucial question is whether the development proposed in 2002 was Schedule 2 development (it did not fall within Schedule 1). If so, the Council should have adopted a screening opinion should have made a reasoned decision taking into account the selection criteria in Schedule 3, whether or not the development was likely to have significant effects on the environment by virtue of the factors mentioned. The adoption of a screening opinion to the effect that the development is EIA development determines the issue³¹.
- 80. Paragraph 2 of the Schedule "sets out the descriptions of development and applicable thresholds and criteria for the purpose of classifying development as Schedule 2 development". These are taken directly from those in Annex 2 of the Directive itself. There are 13 paragraphs, of which the twelfth is headed "Tourism and Leisure". Within that category are ski runs and ski lifts etc; marinas, golf courses and associated development; camp sites and caravan sites; theme parks; and the only candidate for the development in question is category 12(c) "Holiday villages and hotel complexes outside urban areas and associated development."
- 81. The European Commission has published Guidance on the interpretation of project categories but only gives guidance on specific categories where there have been Court rulings on the issue or there is other relevant information available. For this category there is no specific guidance, so I turn to the general principles within Chapter 2. As is often said

The wording of the EIA directive indicates that it has a wide scope and broad purpose. This has been consistently held by the Court. In case C-72/95 *Kraaijeveld and others*, paragraph 31, the Court stated that 'The wording of the Directive indicates that it has a wide scope and a broad purpose. That observation alone should suffice to interpret point 10(e) of Annex II³² to the Directive as encompassing all works for retaining water and preventing floods — and therefore dyke works — even if not all the linguistic versions are so precise.' The Court emphasised again the wide scope and broad purpose of the Directive in Case C-227/01, *Commission v Spain*, paragraph 46.

82. It follows that it is necessary to bear in mind this wide scope and broad purpose when interpreting paragraph 12 and the phrase "hotel complex". The NPPG makes the same

³⁰ See for example *Loader v SSCLG* [2012] EWCA Civ 869.

³¹ Regulation 4 of the EIA Regulations 1999.

³² Construction of roads, harbours and port installations, including fishing harbours.

point (and provides a link to the above guidance) at ID: 4-031-20170728. Notably, it states

The fact that a particular development is not specifically identified in one of the Schedules does not necessarily mean that it falls outside the scope of the Regulations. For example, the Schedule 2.10(b) category, "urban development" (which accounts for by far the largest proportion of Environmental Impact Assessment development in England), includes residential and other development of an urban nature.

- 83. But neither does it mean that it necessarily <u>does</u> fall into the scope of the category which includes "hotel complexes". If it were necessary to reach a formal decision on this issue, I would look at the different linguistic versions of category 12(c) in order to reach a view of its scope (the exercise referred to in the above extract from *Kraaifeveld*). Clearly not all hotels are hotel complexes or the second word is meaningless. But what is it that makes the difference?
- 84. I have found no case law or planning decision³³ which purports to define "hotel complex" or to distinguish it from "hotel".
- 85. I note, however, that the adjective "complex" connotes something having a lot of different but related parts: see, for example, complex eye, complex argument, complex procedure.
- 86. I have also noted the widespread use of the term "hotel complex" within appeal decisions when referring to the site of a hotel together with related, ancillary, uses (eg marquee, car park, gardens, leisure facilities, restaurant, and function rooms) whether these are separate or within a single building.
- 87. Retuning to the case in point, the Council had an application in front of it with more information than I have now, (I have only the development as it was described in the 2003 consent, and as is illustrated in the plan which I understand illustrates the development approved)³⁴. However, it seems doubtful (given the lack of information about the hotel available in 2005) that there was much more detail on the proposed hotel.
- 88. I am also influenced by the fact that an officer of the Local Planning Authority prepared a statement in February 2013³⁵ which states that "Advice has been taken on this issue and it appears that a screening opinion, and therefore potentially an EIA, should have been undertaken." That officer went on to say why, in their view "whilst a procedural error may have occurred in 2003, the relevant issues were considered and no harm was caused." Perhaps the person providing legal advice in 2013 had more information than I have about what was proposed in 2002.
- 89. For all these reasons taken together I think it quite possible that the hotel part of the development fell within the description "hotel complex", consisting as it does a substantial L shaped hotel building, a separate house for a manager, and a separate car park. I cannot rule out that the Council erred in failing to carry out a screening opinion

³³ I have used the database Compass as my source in this respect.

³⁴ This is drawing ENG 154 entitled Proposed Layout and stamped received 24 March 1998.

³⁵ Referred to above at paragraph 29.

in 2002 (or before granting consent in 2003). If the Council did not have enough information (as I do not) to determine definitively whether or not they needed to screen the development, they should have asked for more information from the applicant [Regulation 7].

- 90. I turn to the area of the site, which at 51 hectares is well over the threshold of 0.5ha in Schedule 2. There may have been questions as to whether the site of the hotel complex should be the whole site for the purposes of the screening opinion, particularly bearing in mind the fact that the proposal was expected to deliver a distinct enterprise to that of the Rural Environment Centre, but I see no possible basis on which it could be under the threshold. I also think it quite likely that the "project" for screening (and potentially EIA) purposes would have extended to the entire development for which application was made.
- 91. In conclusion, and bearing in mind the wide scope and broad purpose of the Directive, in my view any uncertainty on the definition question (whether the development proposed included an hotel complex) should have been resolved in favour of undertaking a screening opinion to see whether significant effects on the environment could be ruled out.
- 92. Significant effects may be positive or negative, and a precautionary approach must be taken to the question whether or not they are likely. This means that wherever there is a "serious possibility" of significant effects they are likely³⁶.
- 93. As has been well established, there are limits on the assumptions as to mitigation that a planning authority can make when carrying out a screening opinion, and the state of the law is summarised within the NPPG at ID: 4-023-20170728.
- 94. The English guidance available at the time on screening (Circular 2/99) stated this about the category of Tourism related development

A33. In assessing the significance of tourism development, visual impacts, impacts on ecosystems and traffic generation will be key considerations. The effects of new theme parks are more likely to be significant if it is expected that they will generate more than 250,000 visitors per year. EIA is likely to be required for major new tourism and leisure developments which require a site of more than 10 hectares. In particular, EIA is more likely to be required for holiday villages or hotel complexes with more than 300 bed spaces, or for permanent camp sites or caravan sites with more than 200 pitches.

- 95. For all these reasons, it seems to me quite possible (albeit far from certain) that the Council erred in failing to subject the 2003 consent application to EIA. In 2013, an officer expressed the view that a screening opinion should have been adopted, and it is impossible to second guess its result, or the outcome of the more rigorous assessment that (if appropriate) EIA would have required.
- 96. I am conscious that I am referring to some caselaw and guidance which was not available in 2002, but it sheds light on issues which were live in 2002 and (albeit with hindsight) helps us to understand the process which should ideally have been undertaken.

³⁶ *R* (*Bateman*) *v* South Cambridgeshire DC [2011] EWCA Civ 157 at para 17.

- 97. Turning to the important question of its status, the 2003 consent has been treated as the baseline of committed development for so long that it underpins the recently adopted policy EC4B within the Craven Local Plan, and many other decisions have been taken in reliance on its having been lawfully granted. It is lawful on its face and lawful unless and until it is quashed by the Planning Court. A quashing order is always a discretionary remedy, even where legal error is admitted, so the possibility of procedural error on the part of the Council in 2003 does not in and of itself undermine its validity.
- 98. The fact that we're looking back over more than 17 years, and that the Local Planning Authority acknowledged in 2013 (over 7 years ago) that a legal error was made, also mean that there is very little (close to zero) prospect of a judicial review of the 2003 consent being successful. Any challenge would face the immediate (and in my view insuperable) hurdle of delay.
- 99. So, while I do think it likely that an error or errors were made in 2002, I do not think the 2003 consent is at any material risk of a successful challenge.
- 100. With that in mind I turn to the 2005 Reserved Matters approval.

The RM Approval

- 101. The legislation applying to the RM Approval, dated 20 September 2005 was as follows
 - a. The EIA Directive (85/337/EEC) as amended in 1997 (97/11/EC) and 2003 (2003/35/EC)³⁷; and
 - b. The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 1999/293, which came into force on 14 March 1999³⁸.
- 102. At the time of the application and approval of reserved matters, the general legal consensus in the UK was that EIA could not be required at reserved matters stage.
- 103. That changed following a ruling of the ECJ and the subsequent judgment of the House of Lords in *Barker v Bromley LBC* [2006] UKHL 52. In 2008 the Regulations were amended with effect from 1 September 2008 to allow for screening and EIA of applications for reserved matters ("subsequent applications") for certain projects, e.g. where Schedule 2 development has not previously been screened. The Regulations are not retrospective (see eg Regulation 3 of the 2008 Regulations /2093). They apply only to applications not determined before 1 September 2008.
- 104. However, it is worth recognising that the change in the Regulations was made to correct a failure by the UK properly to transpose the EIA Directive as *Barker v Bromley LBC* made clear. This means that it was never strictly correct to say that "reserved matters cannot be subject to EIA" as Circular 2/99 did, and the Officer's statement in February 2013 to that effect was wrong.

³⁷ The 2003 Directive expanded provisions relating to public participation and access to information in line with the Aarhus Convention.

³⁸ As amended by the EIA Regulations 2000/2867, which came into force on 15 November 2000.

- 105. So, there is no simple answer to whether the RM Application should have been screened certainly there was no UK law providing for it, since the EIA Directive (as the European Court confirmed in 2006) required that EIA of "subsequent applications" should be possible. Of course, the point wasn't taken. The question now is whether there are any grounds for criticising / challenging the RM Approval for the failure to undertake a screening opinion.
- 106. The amendments made to the EIA Regulations in 2008 give a framework for considering this as they put right the deficiencies of the 1999 Regulations in this respect in the light of the ECJ's ruling.
- 107. If, as I have advised may have been the case, the development approved by the 2003 consent was Schedule 2 development, the application for reserved matters should have been screened [as was later required by the amended Regulation 7].
- 108. It is not possible to predict the outcome of that screening process but, had an application for judicial review been made <u>at the time</u>, it would have stood a reasonable chance of success. This is, however, far from certain: the law in 2005 was as held by the Court of Appeal in the *Barker v Bromley* case, namely that EIA could not be required at reserved matters stage. However, in 2003 the House of Lords had referred the question of EIA for reserved matters applications to the ECJ, and its judgment was awaited. An application for judicial review made in 2005 would have had to seek a stay pending the outcome of that reference. It would have taken skill and determination.
- 109. I would like to emphasise, too, that the error I've identified was made many times over the years in the belief that EIA could not be required at reserved matters stage (after all this was the advice in Government Circular 2/99), and there is effectively no chance of success for an application for judicial review were one to be brought now, some 15 years after the decision in question. For the same or similar reasons to those set out for the 2003 consent, in my opinion the reserved matters approval remains a valid decision and the long delay since any grounds for judicial review arose protects it from legal challenge.

The reserved matters approval

- 110. As already mentioned, the Council approved reserved matters on 20 September 2005, subject to 16 conditions.
- 111. I am asked to consider whether the terms of the approval fell outside the scope of the authority delegated to the Head of Planning and Building Control on 25 July 2005. If approval was granted without lawful authority, it would have been vulnerable to judicial review if an application had been brought promptly. As for the other questions regarding decisions taken over ten years ago, the passage of time would in this case, in my opinion, be fatal to any application for judicial review.
- 112. Nevertheless, the Council has asked me to look at this question, and accordingly my opinion follows.
- **113**. Authority to approve the application was given to the Head of Planning subject to prior discussions and agreement with the EA, EN, and applicant regarding retention of the

wetland area as opposed to the creation of a lake. Thus a process, not an outcome, was mandated.

- 114. It is worth pausing for a moment to consider what the committee meant when it distinguished wetland from "the creation of a lake". After all, Gallaber Flash was <u>already</u> a lake (the word used for it by the EA) or a pond (used by others including EN).
- 115. I understand that there was some suspicion at the time that the applicant wished to turn the Gallaber Flash into a mere fishing lake with limited environmental interest full all year round.
- 116. In that context, the committee's objective (bearing in mind its statutory function) was to ensure that the Gallaber Flash would function in a way which fosters the environmental interest of the site, referred to by the EA as its "ephemeral characteristics". It should, generally speaking, be full in winter and dry in summer. This objective can be seen to have been shared fully by both the EA and EN in their letters (referred to briefly above at paras 18-19). While I haven't seen correspondence from the applicant, its agreement can be inferred by the fact both the EA and EN explicitly give their agreement to the course proposed by the applicant at that time, as set out in the outline environmental management plan.
- 117. In short, I see no possible basis for concluding that the officers (and therefore the Head of Planning) acted in excess of the authority given to them on 25 July 2005: they met with the EN and tried to meet with the EA. While we do not have a minute of the meeting on 25 August 2005, it is reasonable to conclude that the letters which followed are sufficient evidence that the applicant, the EA, and EN, agreed that the proposed outline management plan would meet the objective pursued by the planning committee, retaining the wetland "as opposed to the creation of a lake".

Implementation of the 2003 consent

- 118. The third issue I am asked to address is whether the 2003 consent was implemented.
- 119. I have set out the facts in some detail above. All the evidence I have seen points to the following conclusions:
 - a. Works falling within the scope of s56 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 were carried out before the date on which the 2003 consent would otherwise have expired; and
 - b. all 'conditions precedent' on the 2003 consent and on the RM approval were discharged before any works were undertaken. In other words, any breaches of planning control which may have taken place on the site did not render those works ineffective in implementing the consent.
- Further, the Council does not have to rely on views reached over 10 years later, since officers considered the matter and confirmed lawful implementation on 7 February 2008 [see paragraph 26 above].
- 121. That letter does not itself answer the more involved question whether the 2003 consent, construed together with the RM approval, permits the construction of a car park in the NW corner of the site.

- 122. In my opinion it does permit a car park in that location. There was no legal requirement for the site of the reserved matters application to extend to the site identified in the 2003 consent for car parking.
- 123. The 2003 consent required that details of pedestrian, wheelchair and vehicular links within the site be approved before development commenced (condition 8). The RM approval required that "levels of paths roads and parking areas" across the site be approved before development commenced (condition 11). Plan P07B, submitted in order to discharge condition 11, shows levels including "145" marked on the car parking area in the NW corner. I note this was 5m above the water level approved for Gallaber Flash.
- 124. Although the area of car parking lies outside the application for approval of reserved matters, the condition was, in my view, effective to control levels in that area since it lay within the site of the 2003 consent and on land controlled by the applicant. This appears also to have been the view of the developer.
- 125. On this question the Officer's email of 6 June19 said this

"The car parking area (already approved at outline stage) was shown on the submitted drawings but was excluded from the final approved red outline plan (Drawing GP25/011B, attached.)

"I believe that this was because no details for the car parking areas were submitted at the time and the appearance and layout of the car parking areas would be assessed at a later date. To that end, Condition 11 was included in the Decision Notice.

"Drawings 6252/P(0)06 rev C and 6252/P(0)07 rev B (copies attached) were submitted to the Council in December 2007 to discharge Conditions 11 and 13 of 42/2005/5082. The details were deemed to be acceptable to discharge the conditions and the attached letter dated 9th January 2008 was sent to the agent confirming this."

126. In my view the Officer's email provides a reasonable explanation of the issue, and discloses no error of law by the authority.

Enforcement issues

- 127. I am asked specifically whether there appear to be any breaches of planning control and, if so, to advise on the Council's powers in relation to them.
- 128. I will start with a very brief summary of the statutory framework. A breach of planning control occurs when development takes place without the requisite planning permission and/or when a breach of planning condition occurs. If a breach continues for four years (operational development) or ten years (use or breach of condition) without enforcement action being taken it becomes lawful (questions of concealment aside). Enforcement action is taken when an enforcement notice is issued under s172, or a breach of condition notice is issued under s187 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
- 129. The planning authority has a range of powers to obtain information about activities taking place on land, and a broad discretion over whether or not to take enforcement

action, depending on its judgment whether or not enforcement action is expedient in the circumstances.

- 130. The factual and legal context to my advice in this section is as I have set out in this Advice above, and may be summarised as follows
 - a. The 51 ha site benefits from the right to carry out development in accordance with the 2003 consent/RM approval.
 - b. Unless a condition were to require otherwise, a developer can pick and choose which parts of a major consent of this kind to carry out. It is lawful for a developer to build, for example, the hotel alone.
 - c. The developer should, of course, comply with all relevant regulatory regimes (eg as to transportation of waste, pollution of the water environment etc) but the only proviso to (b) above, in terms of planning control, is that any development carried out on the site must comply with the conditions imposed on the 2003 consent and RM approval.
- 131. I have seen it said that the details approved in 2008 were inadequate to control the development taking place, bearing in mind information only available after that date, for example that great crested newts have been seen on site [paragraph 43c] above]. However undesirable this is, it provides no grounds for planning enforcement as it is not a breach of planning control.
- 132. The Local Planning Authority informed me on 12 February 2020 that they are not aware of any breaches of the 2003 consent. That is the date at which I fix this advice. It is a developing situation, and my advice does not cover activities since that date.
- 133. The main concerns which are raised by the documents I have been sent are:
 - a. Whether the diversion of Kell Well Beck in 2011 was handled correctly by the Council as planning authority (see correspondence at paragraphs 24, 31, 32(b), and 43(e) above).
 - b. Whether the breach of condition governing the settlement facility (straw bales) was handled lawfully in 2013 (see paragraphs 27, 33, 36, and 41(d) above).
 - c. Whether there has been a breach of the archaeology condition [2003 consent condition 6] when carrying out works within the NW section to construct a car park.
 - d. Whether there has been a failure to provide the requisite visibility splays at the junction with the A65, and whether that remains an enforceable breach of condition (see paragraph 20 above).
 - e. Whether the provision of the access road constructed in 2013 was a breach of planning control (see paragraph 32 and 41(c) above).
 - f. Whether there were any breaches of planning control in relation to the Environmental Management Plan [RM approval condition 12] and if so whether they remain enforceable (see paragraphs 18(g), 41(e), 43(d), and 45 above).

- g. Whether the apparent lack of a legal right to deliver the approved scheme for access to Hellifield Station engaged the planning authority's enforcement powers (see paragraphs 19(b), 41(g) and 43(f) above).
- h. Whether the works carried out in 2013, 2019, and 2020 involving the importation of material have involved a waste disposal operation or other breach of planning control (see paragraphs 26, 58, and 64 above).
- 134. I will deal with each of these in turn in the following paragraphs.

Diversion of Kell Well Beck

- 135. The question is whether the diversion of Kell Well Beck in 2011 was handled correctly by the Council as planning authority (see correspondence at paragraphs 24, 31, 32(b) and 43(e) above).
- 136. The Kell Well Beck is/was an ordinary watercourse within the meaning of the Land Drainage Act 1991. Section 23 of that Act, as it applied before 2012, required the written consent of the drainage board before carrying out works causing an obstruction to the flow of the Beck. The drainage board at the time was the Environment Agency, although, by 2013, when the matter was discussed in the correspondence I have seen, responsibility had moved to the "lead local flood authority", namely North Yorkshire County Council.
- 137. From what I can tell, the Beck was diverted away from its original course into the Flash in about 1998-2003³⁹.
- 138. I am not clear exactly what was done to divert the Beck in 2011, or how its course changed, but I have seen no indication that the works involved development. Was it a breach of the conditions imposed on the 2003 consent and RM approval? Possible candidates are condition 9 on the 2003 consent which concerns surface water drainage, and requires that development is carried out in accordance with the approved details; and condition 12 on the RM approval which required that development be carried out in accordance with the approved environmental management plan.
- 139. The details submitted and approved under condition 9 are enclosed with my instructions. I note the Environment Agency's statement [1-2-2008] that "There must not be any increase in flows into Kell Well Beck, other than reverting the watercourse back to its original route away from the pond." The EA was not happy with the Flood Risk Assessment, and expected to work informally with the developers over levels and flood risk. It seems that some alteration to the watercourse was envisaged and encouraged by the Environment Agency.
- 140. The Environmental Management Plan did not propose diversion of the Beck, but neither would a diversion necessarily conflict with it (which would be a breach of condition 12).

³⁹ See the Environmental Management Plan of 2007 submitted under condition 12 of the RM approval.

141. The correspondence on the subject in 2013 appears to involve no error of law or on the part of any of the public authorities involved. The officers involved appear to have tried to help concerned residents navigate the complex intersection of statutory responsibilities.

Straw bales

- 142. The question is whether the breach of condition governing the settlement facility (straw bales) was handled lawfully in 2013 (see paragraphs 27, 33, 36, and 41(d) above).
- 143. The Council identified a breach of condition and arranged informally with the developer that the settlement facility approved in 2008 was put in place. There is some evidence that work stopped pending the introduction of the straw bales.
- 144. The matter was discussed in depth at the time with representatives of concerned local residents. An Officer set out the Council's position fully and fairly. There appears to have been no error of law, and it is very common for enforcement of planning control to be successful without the need to take formal action.

Archaeology

- 145. The question is whether there has been a breach of the archaeology condition [2003 consent condition 6] when carrying out works within the NW section to construct a car park.
- 146. The condition required (a) the submission and approval of a written scheme of investigation; and (b) the implementation of a programme of archaeological work; and that both (a) and (b) are carried out before development took place.
- 147. What in fact happened was the submission of a Geophysical Survey which concluded that there were no anomalies (within the hotel site, the access road, and the rural environment centre site) considered "definitely archaeological in nature". That Survey had been drawn up in association with the County Council. As a result David Hill's suggested the condition had been complied with, and the County Council's advice was that "an archaeological watching brief is carried out over the area of the proposed environmental centre. I would suggest that a phased approach be taken to this work, to comprise monitoring of the initial topsoil strip for the access road and services, or the building, whichever is carried out first. On the basis of the results of this first stage, we can review whether additional monitoring of further stages of work is necessary or not." [email 11 October 2007⁴⁰]
- 148. From these facts, it appears to me that
 - a. The basis of the condition was the judgment that the site had archaeological interest, whereas the material submitted by the developer sought to show that it did not.

⁴⁰ Item 2 in Folder for Counsel.

- b. The NW portion of the site was never surveyed for archaeological interest.
- c. The County expected a review of the question whether additional monitoring of further stages of work was necessary following the initial topsoil strip.
- d. The Geophysical Survey was not a programme of work indeed, no programme of work was ever submitted.
- e. Because condition 6 had been discharged without securing a programme of work reflecting the expectations of the County, the Council had no basis for requiring any monitoring of further work.
- 149. In these circumstances the two Councils, District and County, might be criticised for failing to insist on the details required by condition 6 with any rigour, but the developer's failure to bring an archaeological watching brief to the NW portion of the site when works were undertaken there did not amount to a breach of condition.

Visibility splays

- 150. The question is whether a failure to provide the requisite visibility splays at the junction with the A65, remains an enforceable breach of condition 12 of the 2003 consent (see paragraph 25 above).
- 151. As I say at paragraph 25, condition 12 required the necessary visibility splays to be provided before commencement of development. If this was not done at that time it was a breach of condition. The condition requires they be maintained clear of any obstructions. It is in my view arguable that this latter part of the condition impliedly imposes on the developer a continuing duty to provide the visibility splays such that if they were not provided at the correct time, it would be possible to enforce the condition today. I only mention this in passing as I have seen no sign of any concern by others about the visibility splays.

2013 access road

- 152. The question is whether the provision of the access road constructed in 2013 was a breach of planning control (see paragraph 32 and 41(c) above).
- 153. I have seen no evidence capable of contradicting the judgment of officers reached in 2013 and communicated to those who had expressed concern on this issue.

The Environmental Management Plan

- 154. The question is whether there were any breaches of planning control in relation to the Environmental Management Plan [RM approval condition 12] and if so whether they remain enforceable (see paragraphs 18(g), 41(e), 43(d), and 45 above).
- 155. Condition 12 of the RM approval required, of course, the submission and approval of "the full environmental management plan for the site" which had been required by condition 5 of the 2003 consent. In September 2007 the Nature Conservation Area

Management Plan was submitted on behalf of Gordon Halton Homes. It is thin by modern standards, but was judged good enough and approved in January 2008.

- 156. The condition also required that "the provisions of the approved management plan shall be carried out and no building occupied unless the provisions within the management plan are still undertaken." The condition does not say when the provisions of the plan are to be carried out, save by reference to the occupation of a building.
- 157. If that were to happen, it would be an enforceable breach of condition to occupy a building without also undertaking and continuing the provisions of the plan. This states that its long term objectives would be met through control of water levels, grazing management and pest control. The measures envisaged within these three categories are described in the most general terms:
 - a. The first envisages the use of a drop board sluice, the responsibility of a suitable post holder. The water level calendar should be reviewed after two years of operation.
 - b. The second, grazing, envisages a grazing licence specifying particular terms and for its review in March 2009 and refined.
 - c. The third, pest control, describes in general terms the ways predatory birds should be controlled.
- 158. For completeness I should add that, if the hotel were to be constructed and occupied, a wholesale failure to carry out the measures approved within the EMP would be a clear breach of condition, but the detailed requirements are so vague that it would not be easy to assess and identify a clear set of enforceable requirements.
- 159. Although it is clear from the condition that the EMP was expected to provide ongoing protection of the nature conservation interest on site; and although the importance of doing so during the construction period might appear to us obvious particularly given that it has been so long and so potentially harmful to that interest I have not identified a clear breach of the EMP in the various incidents to which my attention has been drawn in the correspondence.
- 160. The correspondence at paragraph 50 above illustrates one of the problems caused by such light touch regulation of development at an environmentally sensitive site, precisely because the planning system offers no solution.

Access to Hellifield Station

- 161. The question is whether the apparent lack of a legal right to deliver the approved scheme for access to Hellifield Station engaged the planning authority's enforcement powers (see paragraphs 19(b), 41(g) and 43(f) above).
- 162. Condition 8 on the 2003 consent required details of pedestrian, wheelchair and vehicular links between the site and Hellifield station to be approved by the Council and for the development to be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

163. It would therefore be a breach of condition to develop the site without providing the approved details. However, there was no obligation on the developer to demonstrate that the condition would be capable of being met when the time came. Indeed, much can change during the course of construction on a site like this: the developer could reach a deal with the relevant landowner over provision of access, and/or the developer could have sought a variation of the condition to accommodate a different solution. The advice given by the Officer in 2013 was correct and there is no breach of planning control.

Importation of Waste

- 164. The question is whether the works carried out in 2013, 2019, and 2020 involving the importation of material have involved a waste disposal operation or other breach of planning control (see paragraphs 26, 58, and 64 above)⁴¹.
- 165. The answer depends on whether the scale of importation and the manner of its deposit are such as to lead the Council (or those officers who inspected the site) to the judgment that the activity amounted not to the implementation of the 2003 consent and RM approval, but to a waste disposal operation. That would be a material change of use of the site used for waste disposal and would require planning permission.
- 166. It will be recalled that the approved level of the car park is 145 AOD, some 4-5m above the approved water level of Gallaber Flash. I have read descriptions of tipping that have some of the hall marks of a waste disposal operation, but if the land required raising to comply with the approved levels then it is perfectly proper to interpret the same works as part of the construction of the car park. I have not read anything, nor seen any photographs which suggest to me that the judgment of officers is flawed in any way.
- 167. I am also conscious that the developer has recently applied for planning permission.
- 168. Enforcement officers should bear in mind that activity on site may be designed to deliver the proposed development (as yet unauthorised) rather than that approved. It is worth checking how consistent are the two sets of proposals in the areas where development is taking place.

Summary and Conclusions

- 169. I am asked to advise Craven District Council, the local planning authority, on a variety of issues relating to the development of land to the west of Hellifield, in particular
 - a. Whether outline planning permission (the 2003 consent) or the approval of reserved matters in 2005 should have been subject to EIA;
 - b. Whether the approval of reserved matters in 2005 was given in excess of the authority delegated to the Head of Planning;

⁴¹ I am not concerned with the detailed regulation of transportation of waste and whether the appropriate documentation was obtained, although it would seem likely that the 2019 and 2020 works (at least) have indeed been properly regulated.

- c. Whether the 2003 consent was implemented; and
- d. Whether the Council has taken a lawful approach to its enforcement function in relation to the site.
- 170. I have discussed these issues with my client and reviewed a large number of documents relating to a period of more than twenty years. I have included within the foregoing Advice description of events over that period, drawing on the documentary evidence provided.
- 171. My conclusions on the legal position follow in summary terms.

EIA - the 2003 consent

- 172. If the development proposed in 2002 was Schedule 2 development (as defined by the 1999 EIA Regulations) it should have been the subject of a screening opinion. Since no screening opinion was adopted, the essential question is whether the development was Schedule 2 development.
- 173. The only candidate for the development in question is category 12(c) *"Holiday villages and hotel complexes outside urban areas and associated development."*
- 174. There is no published guidance on this category and no judicial authority of which I am aware. I have considered the way the phrase "hotel complex" is used in planning appeals, and the natural meaning of the words chosen. It is not possible, without more research on the different linguistic interpretations of the parent Directive, to reach a conclusive view on the question whether the development fell within this category.
- 175. In my opinion, it is quite possible that the development was Schedule 2 development, and (had a screening process been carried out) it is also possible that the Council would have concluded that the development was EIA development. If it was Schedule 2 development, then
 - a. The Council should have adopted a screening opinion when processing the application which led to the 2003 consent. I note that in 2013 an Officer of the Local Planning Authority set out the view that a screening opinion should have been carried out.

and

- b. The Council's failure to screen the development was a procedural error and the 2003 consent might (had an application for judicial review been made at the time) have been quashed.
- 176. However, it is also important to note that errors of this kind were often made at the time, when the true reach and scope of EIA requirements were often misunderstood, even by the UK Government. Moreover, the prospect of a legal challenge being successful now is vanishingly small. As long ago as 2013, the Council admitted errors of law had been made, and since then decisions as to local planning policy and a host of other decisions have been taken on the assumption the site benefits from a valid consent.

EIA - the RM Approval

- 177. Here, one must add yet more hypothetical scenarios to those considered above. <u>If</u> the development was Schedule 2 development, since it was not screened in 2003 it should have been screened in 2005.
- 178. However, there was in 2005 no domestic legal framework within which to undertake a screening opinion. More significantly still, the Government's advice in Circular 2/99 was that EIA <u>could not</u> be required at reserved matters stage. It was not until the following year (2006) that the ECJ confirmed that the Directive does apply to such applications. The state of the law in England in 2005 was the subsequently overturned Court of Appeal decision in *Barker v Bromley* which was consistent with the Government's advice in Circular 2/99 and the approach taken by the Regulations.
- 179. Naturally enough, therefore, if an error was made in 2005 it was in relation to the Directive <u>not</u> UK law, and it was being made by many others across the country.
- 180. The prospect of the courts re-opening that decision 15 years later is, in my opinion, at least as unlikely as it is in relation to the 2003 consent.

Delegated authority to approve reserved matters

- 181. On 25 July 2005 the Planning Committee resolved to delegate authority to approve the application for reserved matters to the Head of Planning and Building Control subject to a process involving prior discussions and agreement with the EA, EN, and applicant regarding retention of the wetland area as opposed to the creation of a lake.
- 182. It seems there was some suspicion that the Gallaber Flash (already referred to as a lake by the EA) would be turned into a lake full of water all year round by the developer's proposals (perhaps a fishing lake, an amenity for the proposed hotel), and thereby damage its conservation interest. That was the harm, as I understand it, that the Committee sought to avoid.
- 183. Between that meeting and approval on 20 September, both English Nature and the EA set out in writing (a) the essential qualities of the existing lake, namely its ephemeral characteristics; and (b) that they were satisfied with the outline conservation management plan submitted by the applicant.
- 184. In other words they agreed that the plan would retain the wetland "as opposed to the creation of a lake". I see no possible basis for concluding that officers (and/or the Head of Planning) acted in excess of the authority given to them on 25 July 2005.

Implementation of the 2003 consent

185. I have looked closely at every submission and every decision to discharge precommencement conditions imposed on the grant of planning permission, and am satisfied that there is no proper basis to question the judgment reached by the Council on 7 February 2008 that the permission was lawfully implemented.

- 186. In those circumstances, it is trite law that the development permitted in 2003 and 2005 remains lawful if carried out in accordance with the conditions imposed on those two consents.
- 187. An enforcement officer explained the position of the car park in the NW of the site in an email dated 6 June 2019, and in my opinion this discloses no error of law. Plan P07B, submitted in order to discharge condition 11, shows levels including "145" marked on the car parking area in the NW corner. I note this was 5m above the water level approved for Gallaber Flash.

Enforcement issues

- 188. Given the many concerns that have been expressed over the years by local interest groups and individuals, I have looked critically at the way the Council has carried out its enforcement functions. The first question in each case is, of course, whether there is a breach of planning control. This may be development carried out without the requisite permission, or it may be a breach of condition.
- 189. The main concerns which are raised by the documents I have been sent are:
 - a. Whether the diversion of Kell Well Beck in 2011 was handled correctly by the Council as planning authority. So far as I can tell the Council's advice on this issue (in 2013) was sound; and reflects a genuine attempt to help concerned residents navigate the complex intersection of statutory responsibilities. I have found no grounds to criticise the Council in this respect.
 - b. Whether the breach of condition governing the settlement facility (straw bales) was handled lawfully in 2013. In my view the Council acted promptly and in an appropriate way to ensure that the settlement facility approved in 2008 was put in place. The matter was discussed in depth at the time and the Council's approach was set out fully in correspondence. I have found no error of law; on the contrary, the Council acted promptly and proportionately to resolve the breach of planning control.
 - c. Whether there has been a breach of the archaeology condition [2003 consent condition 6] when carrying out works within the NW section to construct a car park. In my view, both the District and County Councils might have been criticised for failing to insist on a more rigorous response to condition 6, but the developer's failure to bring an archaeological watching brief to the NW portion of the site when works were undertaken there did not amount to a breach of condition.
 - d. Whether there has been a failure to provide the requisite visibility splays at the junction with the A65, and whether that remains an enforceable breach of condition. I can find no reference to whether these were provided or not and, notably, I have seen no sign of any concern about visibility splays. The condition was not a pre-commencement condition of the kind that goes to the heart of the consent. If they were not provided at the time stipulated by the condition, the failure to do so was a breach of condition and might remain enforceable today.
 - e. Whether the provision of the access road constructed in 2013 was a breach of planning control. I have seen no evidence capable of contradicting the judgment

of officers reached in 2013 that the access road under construction was in the alignment permitted and not a breach of planning control.

- f. Whether there were any breaches of planning control in relation to the Environmental Management Plan [RM approval condition 12] and if so whether they remain enforceable. The condition does not say when the provisions of the plan are to be carried out, save by reference to the occupation of a building. It would be an enforceable breach of condition to occupy a building without also undertaking and continuing the provisions of the plan. However, the condition has little to say about protective measures during the construction period. The EMP's long term objectives are to be met through control of water levels, grazing management and pest control. These measures are described in the most general terms and I have not identified a breach of the EMP in any of the incidents to which my attention has been drawn in the correspondence. As I have explained, the permission might be criticised for its light touch regulation of the conservation interest of this sensitive site, precisely because the Council has very little scope for intervention where development is delayed as this has been.
- g. Whether the apparent lack of a legal right to deliver the approved scheme for access to Hellifield Station engaged the planning authority's enforcement powers. In my view it did not: while it would be a breach of condition to develop the site without providing the approved details, there was no obligation to demonstrate ahead of time that the condition would be capable of being met when the time came. The advice given by the Council in 2013 was correct and there is no breach of planning control in this respect.
- h. Whether the works carried out in 2013, 2019, and 2020 involving the importation of material have involved a waste disposal operation or other breach of planning control. It will be recalled that the approved level of the car park is 145 AOD, some 4-5m above the approved water level of Gallaber Flash. I have read descriptions of tipping that have some of the hall marks of a waste disposal operation, but if the land required raising to comply with the approved levels then it is perfectly proper to interpret the same works as part of the construction of the car park. I have not read anything, nor seen any photographs which suggest to me that the judgment of officers is flawed in any way.
- 190. I have explained that the 2003 consent (with RM approval) does not provide the level of transparency and supervision that might be expected in order to protect the ecological interest in the site during an extended construction stage of development.
- 191. It also leaves the Council with little data or other knowledge of the baseline against which to assess the impact of the development currently proposed (unless the ES for the new application does this, which it is hoped it does).
- 192. Drawing the above points together and for the reasons I have given in more detail within the main Advice, the view taken by the Council (that as yet there is no breach of planning control to enforce against) appears to me to be lawful. That view is dependent on the facts as set out in detail within this Advice, and in particular the judgment of enforcement officers that the importation of waste materials is undertaken in a

manner and location that suggests construction of the approved car park or other element of the approved development.

Mrs Harriet Townsend Cornerstone Barristers 14 September 2020

CRAVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL

HELLIFIELD FLASHES

Re Planning History and Enforcement Issues

EXTRACT FROM ADVICE

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

=============

Summary and Conclusions

- 169. I am asked to advise Craven District Council, the local planning authority, on a variety of issues relating to the development of land to the west of Hellifield, in particular
 - a. Whether outline planning permission (the 2003 consent) or the approval of reserved matters in 2005 should have been subject to EIA;
 - b. Whether the approval of reserved matters in 2005 was given in excess of the authority delegated to the Head of Planning;
 - c. Whether the 2003 consent was implemented; and
 - d. Whether the Council has taken a lawful approach to its enforcement function in relation to the site.
- 170. I have discussed these issues with my client and reviewed a large number of documents relating to a period of more than twenty years. I have included within the foregoing Advice description of events over that period, drawing on the documentary evidence provided.
- 171. My conclusions on the legal position follow in summary terms.

EIA - the 2003 consent

- 172. If the development proposed in 2002 was Schedule 2 development (as defined by the 1999 EIA Regulations) it should have been the subject of a screening opinion. Since no screening opinion was adopted, the essential question is whether the development was Schedule 2 development.
- 173. The only candidate for the development in question is category 12(c) *"Holiday villages and hotel complexes outside urban areas and associated development."*
- 174. There is no published guidance on this category and no judicial authority of which I am aware. I have considered the way the phrase "hotel complex" is used in planning appeals, and the natural meaning of the words chosen. It is not possible, without more

research on the different linguistic interpretations of the parent Directive, to reach a conclusive view on the question whether the development fell within this category.

- 175. In my opinion, it is quite possible that the development was Schedule 2 development, and (had a screening process been carried out) it is also possible that the Council would have concluded that the development was EIA development. If it was Schedule 2 development, then
 - a. The Council should have adopted a screening opinion when processing the application which led to the 2003 consent. I note that in 2013 an Officer of the Local Planning Authority set out the view that a screening opinion should have been carried out.
 - b. The Council's failure to screen the development was a procedural error and the 2003 consent might (had an application for judicial review been made at the time) have been quashed.
- 176. However, it is also important to note that errors of this kind were often made at the time, when the true reach and scope of EIA requirements were often misunderstood, even by the UK Government. Moreover, the prospect of a legal challenge being successful now is vanishingly small. As long ago as 2013, the Council admitted errors of law had been made, and since then decisions as to local planning policy and a host of other decisions have been taken on the assumption the site benefits from a valid consent.

EIA - the RM Approval

- 177. Here, one must add yet more hypothetical scenarios to those considered above. <u>If</u> the development was Schedule 2 development, since it was not screened in 2003 it should have been screened in 2005.
- 178. However, there was in 2005 no domestic legal framework within which to undertake a screening opinion. More significantly still, the Government's advice in Circular 2/99 was that EIA <u>could not</u> be required at reserved matters stage. It was not until the following year (2006) that the ECJ confirmed that the Directive does apply to such applications. The state of the law in England in 2005 was the subsequently overturned Court of Appeal decision in *Barker v Bromley* which was consistent with the Government's advice in Circular 2/99 and the approach taken by the Regulations.
- 179. Naturally enough, therefore, if an error was made in 2005 it was in relation to the Directive <u>not</u> UK law, and it was being made by many others across the country.
- 180. The prospect of the courts re-opening that decision 15 years later is, in my opinion, at least as unlikely as it is in relation to the 2003 consent.

Delegated authority to approve reserved matters

181. On 25 July 2005 the Planning Committee resolved to delegate authority to approve the application for reserved matters to the Head of Planning and Building Control subject

to a process involving prior discussions and agreement with the EA, EN, and applicant regarding retention of the wetland area as opposed to the creation of a lake.

- 182. It seems there was some suspicion that the Gallaber Flash (already referred to as a lake by the EA) would be turned into a lake full of water all year round by the developer's proposals (perhaps a fishing lake, an amenity for the proposed hotel), and thereby damage its conservation interest. That was the harm, as I understand it, that the Committee sought to avoid.
- 183. Between that meeting and approval on 20 September, both English Nature and the EA set out in writing (a) the essential qualities of the existing lake, namely its ephemeral characteristics; and (b) that they were satisfied with the outline conservation management plan submitted by the applicant.
- 184. In other words they agreed that the plan would retain the wetland "as opposed to the creation of a lake". I see no possible basis for concluding that officers (and/or the Head of Planning) acted in excess of the authority given to them on 25 July 2005.

Implementation of the 2003 consent

- 185. I have looked closely at every submission and every decision to discharge precommencement conditions imposed on the grant of planning permission, and am satisfied that there is no proper basis to question the judgment reached by the Council on 7 February 2008 that the permission was lawfully implemented.
- 186. In those circumstances, it is trite law that the development permitted in 2003 and 2005 remains lawful if carried out in accordance with the conditions imposed on those two consents.
- 187. An enforcement officer explained the position of the car park in the NW of the site in an email dated 6 June 2019, and in my opinion this discloses no error of law. Plan P07B, submitted in order to discharge condition 11, shows levels including "145" marked on the car parking area in the NW corner. I note this was 5m above the water level approved for Gallaber Flash.

Enforcement issues

- 188. Given the many concerns that have been expressed over the years by local interest groups and individuals, I have looked critically at the way the Council has carried out its enforcement functions. The first question in each case is, of course, whether there is a breach of planning control. This may be development carried out without the requisite permission, or it may be a breach of condition.
- 189. The main concerns which are raised by the documents I have been sent are:
 - a. Whether the diversion of Kell Well Beck in 2011 was handled correctly by the Council as planning authority. So far as I can tell the Council's advice on this issue (in 2013) was sound; and reflects a genuine attempt to help concerned residents navigate the complex intersection of statutory responsibilities. I have found no grounds to criticise the Council in this respect.

- b. Whether the breach of condition governing the settlement facility (straw bales) was handled lawfully in 2013. In my view the Council acted promptly and in an appropriate way to ensure that the settlement facility approved in 2008 was put in place. The matter was discussed in depth at the time and the Council's approach was set out fully in correspondence. I have found no error of law; on the contrary, the Council acted promptly and proportionately to resolve the breach of planning control.
- c. Whether there has been a breach of the archaeology condition [2003 consent condition 6] when carrying out works within the NW section to construct a car park. In my view, both the District and County Councils might have been criticised for failing to insist on a more rigorous response to condition 6, but the developer's failure to bring an archaeological watching brief to the NW portion of the site when works were undertaken there did not amount to a breach of condition.
- d. Whether there has been a failure to provide the requisite visibility splays at the junction with the A65, and whether that remains an enforceable breach of condition. I can find no reference to whether these were provided or not and, notably, I have seen no sign of any concern about visibility splays. The condition was not a pre-commencement condition of the kind that goes to the heart of the consent. If they were not provided at the time stipulated by the condition, the failure to do so was a breach of condition and might remain enforceable today.
- e. Whether the provision of the access road constructed in 2013 was a breach of planning control. I have seen no evidence capable of contradicting the judgment of officers reached in 2013 that the access road under construction was in the alignment permitted and not a breach of planning control.
- f. Whether there were any breaches of planning control in relation to the Environmental Management Plan [RM approval condition 12] and if so whether they remain enforceable. The condition does not say when the provisions of the plan are to be carried out, save by reference to the occupation of a building. It would be an enforceable breach of condition to occupy a building without also undertaking and continuing the provisions of the plan. However, the condition has little to say about protective measures during the construction period. The EMP's long term objectives are to be met through control of water levels, grazing management and pest control. These measures are described in the most general terms and I have not identified a breach of the EMP in any of the incidents to which my attention has been drawn in the correspondence. As I have explained, the permission might be criticised for its light touch regulation of the conservation interest of this sensitive site, precisely because the Council has very little scope for intervention where development is delayed as this has been.
- g. Whether the apparent lack of a legal right to deliver the approved scheme for access to Hellifield Station engaged the planning authority's enforcement powers. In my view it did not: while it would be a breach of condition to develop the site without providing the approved details, there was no obligation to demonstrate ahead of time that the condition would be capable of being met when the time came. The advice given by the Council in 2013 was correct and there is no breach of planning control in this respect.

- h. Whether the works carried out in 2013, 2019, and 2020 involving the importation of material have involved a waste disposal operation or other breach of planning control. It will be recalled that the approved level of the car park is 145 AOD, some 4-5m above the approved water level of Gallaber Flash. I have read descriptions of tipping that have some of the hall marks of a waste disposal operation, but if the land required raising to comply with the approved levels then it is perfectly proper to interpret the same works as part of the construction of the car park. I have not read anything, nor seen any photographs which suggest to me that the judgment of officers is flawed in any way.
- 190. I have explained that the 2003 consent (with RM approval) does not provide the level of transparency and supervision that might be expected in order to protect the ecological interest in the site during an extended construction stage of development.
- 191. It also leaves the Council with little data or other knowledge of the baseline against which to assess the impact of the development currently proposed (unless the ES for the new application does this, which it is hoped it does).
- 192. Drawing the above points together and for the reasons I have given in more detail within the main Advice, the view taken by the Council (that as yet there is no breach of planning control to enforce against) appears to me to be lawful. That view is dependent on the facts as set out in detail within this Advice, and in particular the judgment of enforcement officers that the importation of waste materials is undertaken in a manner and location that suggests construction of the approved car park or other element of the approved development.

Mrs Harriet Townsend Cornerstone Barristers 14 September 2020